RECEIVED

06-27-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No: 2014-AP-000714 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

NELSON LUIS FORTES,

v.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Trisha Stewart Martin State Bar No. 1016571

Stewart Law Offices P.O. Box 18243 Milwaukee, WI 53218 (414) 933-0067

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether Fortes' plea was knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily entered in light of a misunderstanding of the plea agreement and the trial court's omission of any plea colloquy on the existence of a plea agreement and his understanding of it?

Trial Court Answered: Yes

2. Whether Fortes was denied the effective assistance of counsel, as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment in failing to provide him with a clear, unambiguous plea agreement and in failing to object, seek specific performance of the agreement and inform him of his rights.

Trial Court Answered: No

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication are requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the evening of January 8, 2012, defendant Luis Fortes and co-defendant, Corinna Kuhnke entered the home of Ms. Cortez through an unlocked rear window. (2:2). One defendant searched the bedroom and removed a jewelry box.(2:2). The other defendant placed a jacket over Ms. Cortez's head and allegedly punched her in the face. (2:2). After the defendants had fled, Ms. Cortez, then 85 years old, was taken to the Emergency Room - swelling and a large contusion was observed over her left eye. (2:2).

The jewelry box and a trail of jewelry and items dropped by the defendants as they fled were recovered by the police. (2:3). Co-defendant Kuhnke was identified from a fingerprint on a Coca-Cola bottle she was observed, on surveillance video, tossing into a garbage container. (2:3). She stated she had been to the house many times and thus observed its contents. (2:3). She told Fortes about the house. (2:3). She became acquainted with Fortes through his girlfriend – the three of them would do heroin together. (2:3). The home invasion was a "last minute" thing. (2:3).

On January 10, 2012, Fortes walked into the District 2 police station and turned himself in. (2:4). He stated he placed a coat over Ms. Cortez's head to restrain her and conceal his identity. (2:4). He denied hitting her. (2:4-5). He stated his intent in entering the house was not to hurt Ms. Cortez, but rather, to steal in order to buy drugs for his heroin addiction. (2:4).

Fortes was charged with substantial battery (substantial risk - victim 62 years of age or older). (2). He and the co-defendant were charged with Burglary (Home invasion) as a party to a crime. (2).

A preliminary hearing was waived on January 23, 2012. (4). An information was then filed. (5). On February 1, 2012, while Fortes and the co-defendant were in custody, their respective counsel appeared in court on their behalf during which, at the request of co-defendant Kuhnke's counsel, projected guilty pleas were scheduled for March 8, 2012. (32). On March 8, 2012, Fortes appeared with his counsel who informed the court additional time was needed to prepare for entry of a plea. (33:2). The request was granted. On March 12, 2012, Fortes entered a plea of guilty on both counts. (34:5-6). During the hearing, the court was informed the parties were requesting that a PSI be ordered without a recommendation and it was so ordered. (34:7). The terms of a plea agreement was not otherwise placed on the record nor was there any inquiry by the court.

At the commencement of the sentencing hearing on May 4, 2012, the court acknowledged a PSI had been filed without a recommendation. (36:2,9). The prosecutor, at the court's request, then relayed the State's recommendation and got as far as count one (substantial battery) three years confinement and three years extended supervision consecutive when Fortes' counsel interrupted and the following dialogue ensued:

MR. GUIMONT: Judge, I apologize for interrupting the state, but at least both myself and Mr. Fortes remembered that when we entered the plea that there was going to be a request for a PSI but the sentence would be left up to the court. That's not what the state remembers. But at least I have it written down in my file and that's what Mr. Fortes remembers was the recommendation. THE COURT: Well, the recommendation is not in the guilty plea questionnaire waiver of rights form. MR. GUIMONT: Correct. And I indicated to the state that the reason I specifically asked for no recommendation from the PSI is because the state I thought was leaving the sentence up to the court. MS. HEDGE: Your Honor, my notes reflected February 1, 2012, as to both defendants, upon a guilty plea to all charges both sides are free to argue, PSI ordered. Robbery will be read in. And as you may recall when the defendant Kuhnke was sentenced last week, I gave specific recommendation as to her because both sides were free to argue and I gave the same recommendation as to both defendants and I have it noted in my file and dated. MR. GUIMONT: I discussed it with Mr. Fortes, and this is not something that he wants to withdraw his plea over and he's prepared to proceed to sentencing. THE COURT: Is that correct, sir? Yes, sir. **DEFENDANT**: THE COURT: And you want to proceed to sentencing on today's date? **DEFENDANT:** Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You understand the court is not bound by any negotiations or plea bargains regardless. And you stand before the court on a substantial battery and I think the burglary; is that correct?

DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

(36:3-4). The prosecutor then resumed her recommendations, requesting on count two (burglary): three years confinement and five years extended supervision consecutive, for a total sentence of 14 years plus stipulated restitution of \$1,073.69. (36:5). Mr. Guimont noted the co-defendant had been ordered to pay restitution in the amount of \$600 joint and several. (36:6).

The prosecutor informed the court of the victim's wish for a maximum sentence. (36:10). Mr. Fortes' criminal history was 10 adult convictions involving essentially gun possession, drug possession and an incident of domestic abuse with the mother of four of his children. (36:11-14). He has been addicted to heroin since age 17. (36:14). In concluding her remarks to the court, the prosecutor relayed a further recommendation for addition of an enhancer based upon the victim's age and the fact this was a home invasion. (36.16).

In Attorney Guimont's remarks to the court, the question of the plea agreement again arose, leading to the following dialogue:

MR. GUIMONT:	Even when we thought that the Assistant
	District Attorney was going[sic] leave the
	sentence up to the court as the pre-sentence did,
	we were going to come in here to day and say we
	understand given the serious nature of this case,
	given Mr. Fortes and his background that this is
	a prison case. We were going to ask for prison
	any way.

I certainly don't think there needs to be this incredibly lengthy sentence that the state- -THE COURT: What you're telling to the court and your client agrees that there is no issue as to any breach of the plea agreement? MR. GUIMONT: Correct. THE COURT: Is that correct, sir? THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. MR. GUIMONT: He's willing to proceed and let the state make their recommendation. Because we know that Your Honor is the ultimate extermination of the sentence of the sentence.

THE COURT: Okay.

(36:16-17). With that, Attorney Guimont recommended a total global sentence of six years – three years confinement and three years extended supervision, pointing out that this was a slightly greater sentence than what Ms. Kuhnke received. (36:17).

The court recalled having sentenced co-defendant Kuhnke the previous week and pointed out that Mr. Fortes was "in a different position because you're the one that battered...punched [the victim] for a number of minutes..." (36:23,24). The court imposed the 14-year total sentence requested by the prosecutor. (36:26-27). The extended supervision terms were imposed consecutive to each other. (36:27). Thus, unlike the eight years Mr. Fortes received on the burglary, party to a crime, the co-defendant on this offense received a sentence of a little less than 6 years. (36:17).

A Notice of Intent to Pursue Post Conviction Relief was filed on May 8, 2012, (14), followed by a Post-Conviction Motion for resentencing, (19), alleging breach of the after he had entered his plea.. He also alleged ineffective assistance of counsel in regard to the plea agreement.

Briefing was ordered. (20). Thereafter, the trial court ordered a hearing to determine (1) what the original agreement was, (2) what trial counsel's explanations were to the defendant regarding any recommendation made by the state, and (3) whether the defendant's decision to proceed with sentencing was knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver. Did he understand he had a right to a correct recital of the plea agreement. (23, Ap. 103).

The prosecutor testified the original agreement was noted on her file as upon a plea, both defendants free to argue. (38:4; Ap. 102, \P 2). She recalled Attorney Guimont calling her about a specific recommendation and she told him she would recommend "close to the maximum otherwise both sides would be free to argue." (38:4). She recalled discussing with Attorney Guimont that the PSI should not have a recommendation. (38:10-11).

Attorney Guimont testified the original offer was to plead to both charges and "the State would leave the sentence up to the court." (37:10,12, Ap. 102, ¶ 3). He informed Mr. Fortes, who was not present during the negotiations, of the recommendation the same day. (37:10). Mr. Fortes expressed concern about leaving the sentence up to the court without some specific offer. (37:10,14). After several attempts, Attorney Guimont was able to speak with the prosecutor, the day before the plea hearing, "about the recommendation that she was making and Mr. Fortes's[sic] concern and she said at that point, "well, if she were to put a number on it, it would be close to the maximum," (37:11), "otherwise both sides would be free to argue." (38:4). Therefore, Attorney Guimont advised the defendant they "would be better off leaving the sentence up to the court." (37:11, Ap. 102, ¶ 6). He recalled during the sentencing hearing, turning to Ms. Hedge and stating "no, that's not what we talked about." (37:12). Her response, as he recalls, was "well, this is what's on the file." (37:12).

After the prosecutor's sentencing recommendation, Attorney Guimont had a "brief sidebar" with Mr. Fortes and "briefly" discussed "what our options were given the – what Ms. Hedge indicated what she was going to recommend." (37:17). The options he discussed was

> "the possibility of withdrawing his guilty plea, adjourning the sentencing perhaps to try to get the transcript from the plea, and we – and finally we discussed just proceeding and still making our own recommendation. 'Cause of

course we were free to argue for something, whatever, irregardless (sic) of what the State was going to recommend."

(37:13). He did not recall advising Mr. Fortes as to what he should do with regard to the options. (37:15-16). He informed the trial court Mr. Fortes wished to proceed with sentencing because due to the nature of the offense and Mr. Fortes' record, he was "planing on recommending prison anyway." (37:16). He did not tell Mr. Fortes he had the ability to seek to have the State recommend what they thought the recommendation was. (37:17). He thinks he talked to Mr. Fortes about obtaining the transcript from the guilty plea since that would normally indicate what the state is recommending but "I mean I knew I didn't have anything in writing from Ms. Hedge." (37:17-18). He recalls discussing two options: one withdraw the plea and two adjourning the sentencing to get the plea hearing transcript. (37:20-21). The option of adjourning was his "hope that the transcript would have said you know, where Ms. Hedge would have said our recommendation is to leave the sentence up to the court. That's what I had hoped that it would have said." (37:21). With respect to informing Mr. Fortes that he had a right to enforce the plea agreement or specific performance, Attorney Guimont did not recall using such language. (37:22,23). What he remembers is we "could try to get the transcript from the State's offer, but we also knew that there was nothing in writing." (37:22). His discussion with Mr. Fortes was that "we are still going to be recommending prison anyway and perhaps we can still convince the judge to go along with a recommendation similar to what we would be asking for." (37:22-23).

Mr. Fortes testified Attorney Guimont informed him the plea agreement was to plead guilty to both cases, leave sentencing up to the court and a PSI without a recommendation. (37:26). At sentencing, when the State did not keep that agreement, his attorney discussed with him only the option of withdrawing his plea. (37:26). He did not withdraw his plea based upon his discussion with his attorney that it "was going to be up to the judge. Regardless it was going to be up to the judge. So it made no difference." (37:27). He did choose to move forward with the sentencing after discussion with his attorney. (37:31). His attorney did not inform him he had a right to seek enforcement of the plea agreement. (37:32).

After the hearing, the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law filed by the State. (23; A-Ap. 103). Essentially, the trial court concluded there was a misunderstanding of the plea agreement and thus no breach nor ineffective assistance occurred and by proceeding with sentencing all challenges related to the plea agreement were waived. <u>Id.</u> A Decision and Order Denying Post Conviction Motion was entered on April 2, 2013, concluding Fortes had not established a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement and trial counsel had not provided ineffective assistance. (27; A-Ap. 102). Fortes' filed a Notice of Appeal but subsequently voluntarily dismissed it.

A supplemental postconviction motion followed alleging Fortes' plea was based upon an inaccurate plea agreement and therefore was not intelligently, knowingly and voluntarily entered; ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to accurately convey the plea agreement and object to disputed sentencing remarks; he was sentenced upon inaccurate, disputed, unresolved information when the trial court made statements that he punched the victim and did not resolve misunderstandings on the plea agreement, and citing errors in the judgment of conviction and in the denial of participation in earned release and challenge programs. (49). On March 13, 2014, without a hearing, the trial court issued a Decision and Order Denying Supplemental Postconviction Motion. (55; A-Ap. 105). Fortes now appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE IT ERRED IN DENYING FORTES' POSTCONVICTION MOTIONS.

A. Fortes misunderstood the plea agreement and

therefore plea withdrawal was no longer discretionary but a matter of right to avoid a manifest injustice.

A guilty plea must be knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered. <u>State v. Bangert</u>, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). The question of whether the plea was intelligently, knowingly and voluntarily entered presents an issue of constitutional fact which is reviewed *de novo*. <u>Id.</u> In order to withdraw a plea after sentencing, a defendant must show by 'clear and convincing evidence' that withdrawal is necessary to avoid a 'manifest injustice.' <u>State v. Brown</u>, 2004 WI App. 179, ¶ 4, 276 Wis. 2d 559, 687 N.W.2d 543, citing <u>State ex. rel. Warren v. Schwarz</u>, 219 Wis. 2d 615, 635 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998).

The manifest injustice standard requires a showing that there are "serious questions affecting the fundamental integrity of the plea." <u>Libke v. State</u>, 60 Wis. 2d 121, 128, 208 N.W.2d 331 (1973). Further, "[t]he 'manifest injustice' test is rooted in concepts of constitutional dimension requiring the showing of a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea." <u>State v. Nawrocke</u>, 193 Wis. 2d 373, 379, 534 N.W.2d 624 (Ct. App. 1995). Where a defendant is denied a constitutional right, he may withdraw his plea as a matter of right. <u>Bangert</u>, 131 Wis. 2d at 283.

Fortes alleged the State made a recommendation at his sentencing which was contrary to the plea agreement and that his plea was not intelligently, voluntarily and knowingly entered because he did not know at the time of his plea that the terms recited to him were inaccurate. (49:1,2). The trial court found there was a mutual misunderstanding as to what the State was to recommend. (27:5; A-Ap. 102). Fortes and his counsel understood sentence would be left up to the court while the prosecutor viewed the term "free to argue," in the plea agreement, as allowing any recommendation of its choice. (27:4; A-Ap. 102).

A guilty plea must be shown by the record to have been knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered otherwise it does not comply with constitutional requirements for a valid plea. <u>State v. Dawson</u>, 2004 WI App. 173, ¶ 6, 276 Wis. 2d 418, 688 N.W.2d 12. The sentencing transcript clearly shows Fortes and his counsel understood the plea agreement called for the State to make no specific sentence recommendation. (See, 36:2-5,16-17; A-Ap. 106). "A plea agreement that leads a defendant to believe that a material advantage or right has been preserved when, in fact, it cannot legally be obtained, produces a plea that is 'as a matter of law...neither knowing nor voluntary." <u>Dawson</u>, 2004 WI App. 173, ¶ 11, quoting, State v. Rickkoff, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 128, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983).

Here, Fortes thought he had preserved the right to have the court determine the length of his sentence without influence of specific sentence recommendation by the State. To that end, he obtained the State's agreement and an order from the court that the PSI would contain no sentence recommendation. (34:7). He was informed by trial counsel that without this agreement, any specific recommendation from the State would be "close to the maximum." (37:11). The plea agreement terms were provided to him by trial counsel. (27:4). Neither the prosecutor nor trial counsel reduced the agreement to writing. (37:23). The plea hearing transcript shows the trial court made no inquiry as to the existence of a plea agreement and its terms. (34) Thus, it was not until weeks later, at his sentencing hearing, that Fortes learned he had been given an inaccurate plea agreement.

In <u>Rickkoff</u>, <u>supra</u>., the defendant entered his plea believing, with acquiescence of the trial court and prosecutor, he had preserved a right to appellate review by a stipulation. When it was discovered to be legally unenforceable, his plea was then found to have been unknowing and involuntary, thus entitling him to withdraw his plea. In <u>Dawson</u>, <u>supra</u>., the defendant received a plea bargain with a "reopen-and-amend" provision, with the acquiescence of the State and trial court, which, after entry of his plea, was found to be unenforceable. Thus, he, too, was permitted plea withdrawal on the ground his plea was unknowing and involuntary.

A common theme here is that the defendants were led to the inaccurate understanding not by themselves but by others. Here, defendant was led to his inaccurate understanding of the plea agreement by his trial counsel and by acquiescence, the prosecutor. Since the prosecutor took the view that 'free to argue' meant she could make any recommendation of her choice, when Fortes decided not to go with a specific recommendation upon being informed it would be "close to the maximum," she could have set him straight on her view of the agreement but, instead, she apparently acquiesced. Technically, the trial court also acquiesced in that the request for a PSI without a recommendation did not prompt any inquiry by the court as to the basis for the request and thus dashing an opportunity for the plea agreement to come to light on the record. Further, it is noteworthy that the prosecutor had a duty to ensure the terms of the plea bargain were clear and in writing as did the trial counsel and the trial court a duty to know of the agreement and assure Fortes' correct understanding of it. Of course the omission of these duties worked to the detriment of Fortes alone. See, State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906; State ex rel. Raymond White v. Gray, 57 Wis. 2d 17, 203 N.W.2d 638 (1973), citing Austin v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 727, 183 N.W.2d 56; and American Bar Association Standards <u>Relating to Pleas of Guilty</u>, Approved Draft, 1968, pp 29, 30, sec. 1.5.

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