RECEIVED

09-15-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP714-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NELSON LUIS FORTES,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND FROM ORDERS DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General**

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

To ensure the constitutionality of guilty pleas in Wisconsin, both the state legislature and the Wisconsin Supreme Court require the trial court to address the defendant personally on the record to ascertain his understanding of the nature of the charges, the constitutional rights being waived, and the potential punishment he faces. Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a); *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 266-72.

When a defendant's "plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled." Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971). See United States v. Rourke, 74 F.3d 802, 805-06 (7th Cir. 1996). The breach must, however, be substantial and material. State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 288; State v. Quarzenski, 2007 WI App 212, ¶¶ 18-19, 305 Wis. 2d 525, 739 N.W.2d 844. See United States v. Hauptman, 111 F.3d 48, 51-52 (7th Cir. 1997). The defendant bears the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that (1) a breach occurred, and (2) it was material and substantial. *State v. Deilke*, 2004 WI 104, ¶ 13, 274 Wis. 2d 595, 682 N.W.2d 945.

The failure of a defendant to object to an alleged breach of the plea agreement, especially if represented by counsel when the breach allegedly occurred, is strong evidence that the breach was not material or substantial. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 290. *See United States v. Rourke*, 74 F.3d at 807; *United States v. Pollard*, 959 F.2d 1011, 1019-20, 1025, 1027-28, 1030 (D.C. Cir.), *cert. denied*, 506 U.S. 915 (1992). *Compare State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 1, ¶ 27, 249 Wis. 2d 492, 637 N.W.2d 733 (defense counsel immediately objected to the prosecutor's negative sentencing remarks and argued they effectively breached the plea agreement).

Resentencing with specific performance of the plea agreement is the preferred remedy over plea withdrawal. *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. at 263; *United States v. Williams*, 102 F.3d 923, 927 n.5 (7th Cir. 1996); *State v. Matson*, 2003 WI App 253, ¶ 33, 268 Wis. 2d 725, 674 N.W.2d 51. To obtain resentencing and specific performance, Fortes must prove that the breach occurred and that it adversely affected his sentence. *Puckett v. United States*, 556 U.S. 129, 142 n.4 (2009).

B. There was no breach because there was no agreement barring the state from making a sentence recommendation.

Fortes failed to prove a "manifest injustice" because, as the trial court properly held, he failed to prove that a "material and substantial" breach occurred. Fortes failed to prove that the state had agreed not to make any sentence recommendation.

There was in fact no such agreement. According to the prosecutor, both parties agreed all along that they were "free to argue." According to Fortes, "free to argue" was the original agreement but the prosecutor somewhere along the way changed her mind and agreed not to make any sentence recommendation, leaving the length of sentence "up to the court." The prosecutor testified that she never deviated from the "free to argue" term, noting that the state and defense were also "free to argue" at the co-defendant's sentencing a week before Fortes's sentencing.¹

There was, therefore, no basis for defense counsel to object on the ground that the state breached the plea agreement. There was no basis to demand specific performance of a term that was not made part of the plea agreement. There was no breach; only a misunderstanding. That misunderstanding was brought to light and fully addressed before Fortes decided to go ahead with sentencing rather than seek any remedy for what he erroneously believed was a breach. He was willing to proceed with both sides "free to argue," whether that term was always part of the agreement or was added at sentencing. Fortes failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a breach occurred, or that any breach was material and substantial. *State v. Deilke*, 274 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 13.

C. Fortes knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to seek plea withdrawal or specific performance.

Fortes insists the misunderstanding that came to light at sentencing retroactively rendered his plea almost two months earlier involuntary and unintelligent. In arguing on appeal that his plea on March 12, 2014 was involuntary and unintelligent, or that it failed to comply

¹ Fortes seems to now think that "free to argue" sentence length and leaving sentence length "up to the court" are mutually exclusive concepts. Fortes's brief at 20. They are not. Whether or not the parties are "free to argue," the length of sentence will always be "up to the court." That is, indeed, how Fortes correctly grasped those consistent concepts at sentencing and at the postconviction hearing (36:4, 16-17; 37:26-27, 28).

with the requirements for a valid plea, Fortes simply ignores his voluntary and intelligent decision to waive any such challenges to the plea on the record at sentencing May 4, 2012. Forte's brief at 10-15.

When defense counsel brought the misunder-standing to light at sentencing, Fortes could have moved for an adjournment or to withdraw the plea. But, after discussing his options with counsel, Fortes decided to forgo any remedy and proceed to sentencing, with the understanding that both sides were now "free to argue." Fortes voluntarily and intelligently did so because he wanted to resolve the case, he did not want to face the added robbery charge at a trial, he remained free to argue for whatever sentence he desired, he knew the judge was not bound by anyone's sentence recommendation, and he knew his attorney would recommend prison time in any event.²

Fortes thereby unequivocally waived his right to challenge the plea agreement by choosing not to pursue it once the misunderstanding came to light at sentencing. He chose to stick with the plea and go ahead with sentencing with the proviso that both sides were "free to argue." Fortes thereby reaffirmed his decision to plead guilty and go ahead with sentencing, "with full prior knowledge of

² Fortes insists there is something confusing or ambiguous about the term "free to argue," but does not explain why. Fortes has somehow convinced himself that "free to argue" meant the state was not "free to argue" sentence length here. Fortes's brief at 17-18. "Free to argue" means just that – the parties were "free to argue" for whatever sentence (within the statutory range) they deemed appropriate (26:4, \P 2). There was no ambiguity. Compare State v. Wesley, 2009 WI App 118, ¶ 17, 321 Wis. 2d 151, 772 N.W.2d 232 (the agreement that one charge be "dismissed outright" in exchange for a guilty plea to another charge was ambiguous because it could be understood to mean either: (1) dismissal with prejudice, with no reference to the facts underlying that dismissed charge at sentencing on the other charge; or (2) defendant could not be sentenced on the dismissed charge, but the parties would be free to refer to the facts underlying that charge at sentencing on the other charge as would be the case with a dismissed "read-in" charge). See id. ¶ 8.

the state's altered position on sentencing." *State v. Paske*, 121 Wis. 2d 471, 474, 360 N.W.2d 695 (Ct. App. 1984). Fortes's "ultimate bargain with the state" was now that both sides were "free to argue." *Id.* at 475. This "violated no standards of fairness or decency or any factors bearing upon due process." *Id.*

[T]here is nothing to support the proposition that the Government's breach of a plea agreement retroactively causes the defendant's agreement to have been unknowing or involuntary. Any more than there is anything to support the proposition that a mere breach of contract retroactively causes the other party's promise to have been coerced or induced by fraud. . . . In any case, it is entirely clear that a breach does not cause the guilty plea, when entered, to have been unknowing or involuntary.

Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. at 137.

Fortes specifically waived at sentencing any right to withdrawal or specific performance of his voluntary and intelligent plea entered almost two months earlier. Fortes's brief at 9-10. In arguing that his waiver at sentencing of any challenge to his plea was in itself not knowing and voluntary, Fortes does not explain what critical information he lacked, or who coerced him to go ahead with sentencing, once the misunderstanding came to light.

Rather than request an adjournment to get a transcript of the plea hearing to confirm what its terms were so the plea could then be enforced, Fortes decided to go ahead with sentencing. Fortes discussed his options with counsel and decided to proceed because he wanted his case resolved, he did not want to face the additional robbery charge, his attorney was going to request prison time in any event, and the trial court could disregard anyone's sentence recommendation. Even before the plea hearing, Forte acknowledged on the plea questionnaire and waiver form, "that the judge is not bound by any plea agreement or recommendation and may impose the maximum penalty" (6). Fortes knew that the length of

sentence would still "be up to the judge" (37:26-27), and that the judge could impose "whatever sentence he thinks is appropriate" (37:28).

Fortes proceeded with eyes wide open on the sound advice of competent counsel. Fortes's reaffirmation of his voluntary and intelligent plea after the misunderstanding came to light represents a voluntary and intelligent waiver, or the abandonment, of a known objection to the plea in its truest sense. *See Farrar v. State*, 52 Wis. 2d 651, 660, 191 N.W.2d 214 (1971); *State v. Damaske*, 212 Wis. 2d 169, 193, 567 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1997). Fortes waived at sentencing any remedy for the alleged breach – such as withdrawal or specific performance – when he decided to go ahead with sentencing. *See Puckett v. United States*, 556 U.S. at 137.

D. Fortes waived any claim that the trial court failed to follow the judicially and statutorily-imposed mandatory procedures for a voluntary and intelligent plea.

Fortes also raised for the first time in his supplemental postconviction motion a separate claim that the plea violated the mandatory requirements of Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) (49:2-3, ¶ 8). Even assuming he cannot prove his plea was involuntary or unintelligent, Fortes claims he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the ground that the trial court failed to comply with the requirement that it discuss with him at the plea hearing the terms of the plea agreement. Fortes's brief at 14 ("Thus, the trial court erred in denying an evidentiary hearing to determine a knowing, intelligent and voluntary plea in light of the defective colloguy and Fortes' misunderstanding."). See State v. Frey, 2012 WI 99, ¶¶ 100-01, 343 Wis. 2d 358, 817 N.W.2d 436. This new claim is bereft of merit for several reasons.

First, this new claim is procedurally barred. Fortes did not raise this separate challenge to the plea in his initial postconviction motion (19; 22), or at the evidentiary hearing, so it is waived. Fortes included this new claim, and only in conclusory fashion, along with several other claims for the first time in his supplemental postconviction motion filed almost nine months after the trial court denied his initial motion (49:2-3, ¶ 8). Fortes did not in that supplemental motion offer a "sufficient reason" to excuse his failure to present this new but closely related claim in his first postconviction motion, so it is procedurally barred (51:6). Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4); *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 181-86, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994).

Second, this new claim was also effectively "finally adjudicated" against Fortes when his first postconviction motion challenging the voluntary and intelligent nature of his plea was denied after the lengthy evidentiary hearings (51:10). Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4). In the words of the trial court: "The plea agreement issues were formerly resolved" (55:3; A-Ap. 105:3). Fortes is barred from relitigating essentially the same claim in his supplemental motion no matter how "artfully" he tries to rephrase it. See State v. Witkowski, 163 Wis. 2d 985, 990-92, 473 N.W.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1991). And, as discussed at length above, Fortes expressly waived any challenge to his voluntary and intelligent plea at sentencing when the misunderstanding regarding whether the state had agreed not to make a sentence recommendation came to light (36:4, 16-17; 55:3; A-Ap. 105 at 3).

Third, because there was no agreement other than that the drafter of the presentence report would make no sentence recommendation (34:7), there was nothing more for the court to explore on the record at the plea hearing. If defense counsel thought that there was more, it behooved him to bring it to the court's attention at that time. *See State v. Frey*, 343 Wis. 2d 358, 817, ¶ 80 ("In plea bargaining, *defense counsel* has a duty to assure that the defendant understands and approves the plea

agreement."); *id.* ¶ 102 ("It is the responsibility of *defense counsel* to assure that the defendant understands and consents to the terms of any plea bargain and appreciates the authority and independence of the sentencing court.") (emphasis added).

Finally, Fortes received the very evidentiary hearing that a proven *Bangert* violation would have called for (37-38). *See State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 274. His supplemental postconviction motion filed ten months after those hearings blithely ignored the very fact that those hearings occurred. It ignored the fact that Fortes's plea was proven at those hearings to have been voluntary and intelligent despite the misunderstanding that later came to light.

Both Fortes and Attorney Guimont testified at that hearing about whether there was a plea agreement regarding sentence recommendation, what Fortes's understanding of that agreement was, why it mattered to Fortes, and why both counsel and Fortes decided to go ahead with sentencing rather than seek to withdraw the plea despite the misunderstanding (37:9-24, 26-32). As shown above, the state proved that his "plea was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily, despite the deficiencies in the plea hearing." State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 36, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. A remand for a second hearing to explore the same issues with the same witnesses, and likely arriving at the same result, serves no purpose. Fortes "should not be permitted to game the system by taking advantage of judicial mistakes" that we now know did not matter to him at the time. *Id.* ¶ 37. *See* Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. at 140 (requiring an objection to a plea agreement breach so that a defendant will not "game" the system by waiting to see if his sentence is favorable and "seeking a second bite at the apple" if it is not).

II. FORTES FAILED TO PROVE TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT INSISTING ON PLEA WITHDRAWAL OR ON SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF A NON-EXISTENT AGREEMENT.

Fortes strategically decided to forgo any challenge to the alleged breach. State v. Howard, 2001 WI App 137, ¶ 12, 246 Wis. 2d 475, 630 N.W.2d 244. Consequently, his challenge is only reviewable now in the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel challenge with the burden of proving both deficient performance and prejudice squarely on Fortes. Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 375 (1986); State v. Pinno & State v. Seaton, 2014 WI 74, ¶¶ 81-82, __ Wis. 2d __, 850 N.W.2d 207; State v. Beauchamp, 2011 WI 27, ¶¶ 14-15, 333 Wis. 2d 1, 796 N.W.2d 780; State v. Miller, 2005 WI App 114, ¶ 7, 283 Wis. 2d 465, 701 N.W.2d 47; State v. Carprue, 2004 WI 111, ¶ 47, 274 Wis. 2d 656, 683 N.W.2d 31; State v. Jones, 2010 WI App 133, ¶ 25, 329 Wis. 2d 498, 791 N.W.2d 390. See State v. Haywood, 2009 WI App 178, ¶ 15, 322 Wis. 2d 691, 777 N.W.2d 921 (because defendant forfeited his right to appellate review of a prosecutorial misconduct claim by not objecting at trial, the claim could only be reviewed as an ineffective assistance claim). See Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. at 134-35 (because defense counsel did not object when the alleged plea agreement breach occurred, it is reviewable only for "plain error"); United States v. Johnson, 641 F. Supp. 2d 543, 548 n.4 (W.D. Va. 2009) (same). Also see State ex rel. Panama v. Hepp, 2008 WI App 146, ¶ 26, 314 Wis. 2d 112, 758 N.W.2d 806. Compare State v. Williams, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶¶ 27-28 (defense counsel immediately objected when the prosecutor's discussion of the presentence report, which recommended prison time, undermined the state's agreement to recommend probation and indicated that the state wished to change its recommendation; the circuit court upheld the defense objection).

A. The applicable law and standard for review governing challenges to the effectiveness of trial counsel.

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